<u>No. 47647-9-II</u>

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

Elizabeth Jenson,

Appellant.

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 14-1-02297-4

The Honorable Judge G. Helen Whitener

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Ms. Jenson's theft and identity theft convictions in counts I-IV violated her Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendment right to notice of the charges against her.
- 2. The convictions in counts I-IV violated Ms. Jenson's state constitutional right to notice under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3 and 22.
- 3. The Information was deficient because it failed to allege the essential elements of first-degree identity theft and second-degree theft.
- 4. The operative language charging counts I-IV failed to allege that each offense consisted of multiple acts that were part of a common scheme or plan.
- 5. The prosecution improperly sought to aggregate multiple offenses into a single charge without alleging a common scheme or plan.

ISSUE 1: A criminal Information must set forth all of the essential elements of an offense. Did the state's failure to allege a common scheme or plan violate Ms. Jenson's right to notice of the essential elements of counts I-V?

- 6. The identity theft statute is unconstitutionally overbroad.
- 7. Ms. Jenson was convicted through operation of a statute that is unconstitutionally overbroad.

ISSUE 2: A criminal statute is unconstitutionally overbroad if it purports to criminalize private thoughts. Does the identity theft statute violate the First Amendment by criminalizing mere possession of knowledge with intent to commit any crime?

- 8. The court erred by scoring Ms. Jenson's identity theft and theft convictions separately for sentencing purposes.
- 9. Ms. Jenson's identity theft and theft convictions comprised the same criminal conduct.

ISSUE 3: Multiple offenses score as the same criminal conduct if they occurred at the same time and place, against the same victim, and with the same criminal intent. Did the court

err by scoring Ms. Jenson's offenses separately when each consisted of multiple overlapping transactions found by the jury to involve a common scheme or plan to wrongfully obtain money belonging to Mr. Falk?

- 10. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 3.
- 11. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Ms. Jenson's right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment and art. I, § 3.
- 12. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Ms. Jenson's right to a jury trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 21 and 22.
- 13. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof and undermined the presumption of innocence.
- 14. The trial court's instruction improperly focused jurors on "the truth of the charge" rather than the reasonableness of their doubts.

ISSUE 4: A criminal trial is not a search for the truth. By equating proof beyond a reasonable doubt with "an abiding belief in the truth of the charge," did the trial court undermine the presumption of innocence, impermissibly shift the burden of proof, and violate Ms. Jenson's constitutional right to a jury trial?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Jack Falk was born in 1946, orphaned at a young age, and never learned to read. RP¹ 167-168, 172, 520. By 2015, he was living in an apartment owned by a local homeless mission and his only income came from Social Security disability benefits. RP 169-172, 450. Falk believed his protective payee was taking his money, so he asked Elizabeth Jenson to help. RP 187, 408, 522-523. Ms. Jensen worked for the mission and agreed to be his payee until he could find someone else. RP 173, 417, 516-517, 526.

Falk owed Ms. Jensen some money, and the two made a payee agreement that included repayment. RP 173, 526, 530, 541. Falk received \$50 weekly for spending money, and Ms. Jensen paid his bills. RP 469, 528-530.

Falk took a trip to Disneyland during the time when Ms. Jensen was the payee, and she provided him with money for the trip. RP 550-562. When he ran out of money, he borrowed from his traveling companion, and later Ms. Jensen gave Falk money he used to repay his friend. RP 452-456, 472, 480. There were other times when Ms. Jensen

¹ Trial began on March 30, 2015. The transcripts from the trial are sequentially numbered, and will be the only ones cited in this brief. They will be cited as RP.

used her own money to pay for things for Falk and then was repaid. RP 516-562.

At some point, Falk became suspicious and reported to police that bills were being paid from his account for services he didn't use. RP 214-217, 269.

The state charged Elizabeth Jensen with two counts of identity theft one, two counts of theft two, and one count of each identity theft two and theft three. CP 44-47. The operative language of each charge did not allege that Ms. Jensen had a common scheme or plan. CP 44-47.

All of the counts were alleged to have occurred over years, some for up to four years and others for closer to two years, between July of 2011 and April of 2014. CP 44-47.

At trial, Falk remembered that he always had the money he needed when Ms. Jensen was his payee, but he remembered little else. RP 166-202. The state offered hundreds of pages of bank records in support of their case. RP 262-404. These records were all from Chase Bank, and covered five accounts – some under only Falk's name, some jointly held, and one only in Ms. Jensen's name. RP 262-404.

Ms. Jensen testified, explaining that Falk was like family to her. RP 522-523, 536-538, 555. She said that she kept careful records of money she'd loaned him until she was replaced as payee, when she

4

disposed of them. RP 530-531, 556. She also told the jury that Falk still owed her about \$1600. RP 556, 558.

The state proposed an instruction regarding reasonable doubt that included the following: "If ... you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt." CP 74. The defense objected to this instruction, but the court gave it. RP 14-16; CP 74.

The jury returned verdicts of guilty. RP 853-856.

At sentencing, the defense argued that the counts were all one course of conduct. RP 885-890. The defense reminded the court that the charges aggregated amounts, that they all involved the same victim and bank, and that the intent was the same. RP 886. The court sentenced Ms. Jensen with two points.² RP 899; CP171-175.

Ms. Jensen timely appealed. CP 179.

ARGUMENT

I. THE INFORMATION OMITTED AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF EACH IDENTITY THEFT AND THEFT CHARGED IN COUNTS I-IV.

A. Standard of Review.

Challenges to the sufficiency of a charging document are reviewed *de novo. State v. Rivas*, 168 Wn. App. 882, 887, 278 P.3d 686 (2012)

² Ms. Jensen had no criminal history. RP 887.

review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1007, 297 P.3d 68 (2013). Such a challenge may be raised at any time. *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 102, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). When the challenge comes after a verdict, the reviewing court construes the document liberally. *Rivas*, 168 Wn. App. at 888. The test is whether or not the necessary facts appear or can be found by fair construction in the charging document. *Id. at* 188. If the Information is deficient, the court must presume prejudice and reverse. *Id.* at 188.

B. The state failed to allege that Ms. Jenson committed multiple acts of theft and identity theft as part of a common scheme or plan, an essential element when the state seeks to aggregate offenses to elevate the degree of a charged crime.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to be fully informed of the charge she faces. This right stems from the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the federal constitution, as well as art. I, §§ 3 and 22 of the Washington constitution. The right to a constitutionallysufficient Information is one that must be "zealously guarded." *State v. Royse*, 66 Wn.2d 552, 557, 403 P.2d 838 (1965).

All of the essential elements of a crime must be alleged in the charging document. *Rivas*, 168 Wn. App. at 887. An Information that omits an essential element fails to charge a crime. *Id*.

To obtain a conviction for first-degree identity theft, the state must prove that the defendant obtained an amount in excess of \$1,500. RCW 9.35.020(2). Similarly, a conviction for second-degree theft requires proof of an amount exceeding \$750. RCW 9A.56.040(1)(a). Multiple acts of identity theft or theft may be aggregated to reach these statutory amounts, but only if the acts are all part of a common scheme or plan. RCW 9A.56.010(21)(c), RCW 9.35.020(5).

In aggregation cases, the existence of a "common scheme or plan" is an essential element of the offense. *Rivas*, 168 Wn. App. at 890-91. Thus, when the state seeks to aggregate multiple transactions to reach the minimum dollar amount for an offense, it must allege the essential element of a common scheme or plan in the Information. *Rivas*, 168 Wn. App. at 890-91.

The Information here did not allege that Ms. Jenson committed multiple acts of identity theft pursuant to a common scheme or plan. CP 44-47. Nor did the state charge her with committing multiple acts of theft pursuant to a common scheme or plan. CP 44-47.

Nonetheless, in counts I-IV, the state sought to convict Ms. Jenson based on the aggregation of multiple transactions over years. The court's "to convict" instructions each included the "common scheme or plan" element for counts I-IV. CP 84, 94, 97, 100. In closing, the prosecutor outlined the combination of transactions claimed to be part of such a common scheme or plan. RP 786-816, 836-842.

7

The jury necessarily relied on multiple transactions to reach the statutory amounts alleged.

The Information was insufficient as to counts I-IV. CP 44-46. It did not allege that each offense consisted of multiple transactions that were part of a "common scheme or plan." CP 44-46. A "common scheme or plan" is an essential element when the state seeks to elevate the degree of an offense by aggregating multiple crimes. *Rivas*, 168 Wn. App. at 890-91. The convictions in counts I-IV must be reversed and the charges dismissed without prejudice. *Id*.

II. THE IDENTITY THEFT STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OVERBROAD

A. Standard of Review

Constitutional violations are reviewed *de novo*. *In re Det. of Lane*, 182 Wn. App. 848, 332 P.3d 1042, 1044 (2014). A manifest error affecting a constitutional right may be raised for the first time on review. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Kirwin*, 165 Wn.2d 818, 823, 203 P.3d 1044 (2009).

Free speech challenges are different from most constitutional challenges to statutes; under the First Amendment, the state bears the

burden of justifying a restriction on speech.³ *State v. Immelt*, 173 Wn.2d 1, 6, 267 P.3d 305 (2011). Furthermore, a defendant may challenge a statute as overbroad even where the constitution clearly does not protect his own conduct.⁴ *State v. Pauling*, 149 Wn.2d 381, 387, 69 P.3d 331 (2003). This is so "because prior restraints on free speech pose a greater harm to society than the possibility that some unprotected speech will go unpunished." *Id.* (citing *Broadrick v. Oklahoma*, 413 U.S. 601, 612, 93 S.Ct. 2908, 37 L.Ed.2d 830 (1973)).

B. The identity theft statute is unconstitutionally overbroad because it criminalizes thought.

Under the First Amendment, the state may not "control the moral content of a person's thoughts." *Stanley v. Georgia*, 394 U.S. 557, 565, 89 S.Ct. 1243, 22 L.Ed.2d 542 (1969). Any attempts to do so are "wholly inconsistent with the philosophy of the First Amendment." *Id.*, at 565.

A statute is unconstitutionally overbroad "if it sweeps within its prohibitions constitutionally protected free speech activities." *State v.*

³ Ordinarily, the burden is on the party challenging the statute to show beyond a reasonable doubt that it is unconstitutional. *Washington Off-Highway Vehicle Alliance v. State*, 163 Wn. App. 722, 733, 260 P.3d 956 (2011) *review granted*, 173 Wn.2d 1013, 272 P.3d 247 (2012) (Off-Highway Vehicle Alliance I) and aff'd sub nom. *Washington Off Highway Vehicle Alliance v. State*, 176 Wn.2d 225, 290 P.3d 954 (2012) (Off Highway Vehicle Alliance II).

⁴ An overbroad statute must be invalidated unless the reviewing court can impose a proper limiting construction. *Johnston*, 156 Wn.2d at 362-36; *Pauling*, 149 Wn.2d at 386. To save it from constitutional infirmity, "the statute must be construed to prohibit only unprotected speech." *Johnston*, 156 Wn.2d at 362-63.

Johnston, 156 Wn.2d 355, 363, 127 P.3d 707 (2006) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Criminal statutes "require particular scrutiny and may be facially invalid if they make unlawful a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct... even if they also have legitimate application." *Pauling*, 149 Wn.2d at 386 (citation internal quotation marks omitted).

The identity theft statute makes it a crime to knowingly possess another person's "means of identification" with intent to commit "any crime." RCW 9.35.020(1). This includes the mere possession of information such as a person's "current or former name." RCW 9.35.005(3).⁵

The statute is overbroad because it criminalizes thought. Efforts to control thought are unconstitutional. *Stanley*, 394 U.S. at 565. Imposing criminal liability "upon proof of mere intent provides too great a possibility of speculation and abuse." *United States v. Oviedo*, 525 F.2d 881, 885 (5th Cir. 1976).

In its effort to stop "unscrupulous persons" from "find[ing] ever more clever ways" to use personal and sensitive information,⁶ the legislature cast a net so broad that it criminalized a vast amount of private

⁵ The statute likewise criminalizes possession of "financial information." broadly defined, with intent to commit any crime. RCW 9.35.020(1); RCW 9.35.005(1).

thought, unaccompanied by any overt act. The statute's overbreadth is thus more than "substantial." *Immelt*, 173 Wn.2d at 6.

For example, a person who becomes enraged while looking through a telephone book and forms the intent to strike another is guilty of second-degree identity theft, even absent any overt act. RCW 9.35.020(1). Such a person knowingly possesses a vast number of "current or former name[s]" with the intent to commit the crime of assault. RCW 9.35.020(1); RCW 9.35.005(3). Indeed, given the legislature's intent to separately impose punishment for each name possessed, the phone-book possessor could be convicted of thousands of felonies, despite having sinned only in the mind. *See* RCW 9.35.001 (specifying that the unit of prosecution); *State v. K.R.*, 169 Wn. App. 742, 746 n. 1, 282 P.3d 1112 (2012).

Similarly, a child who intends to send a threatening email to a classmate could be convicted for doing no more than making a mental note of the target email address. Under RCW 9.35.020(3), she would be guilty of a class C felony for her knowing possession of "an electronic address" with intent to commit any crime, even though she could not be convicted of attempted harassment in the absence of a substantial step. RCW 9.35.020(1); RCW 9.35.005(3).

⁶ See RCW 9.35.001, Findings – Intent.

The statute's substantial overbreadth renders it unconstitutional. *Immelt*, 173 Wn.2d at 1, 6. Ms. Jenson's convictions for identity theft must be reversed and the case remanded for resentencing on the theft convictions. *Id.*, at 13-14.

C. No limiting construction can save the statute from overbreadth.

The statute expressly prohibits bare possession of information, where the defendant has "the intent to commit, aid, or abet *any* crime." RCW 9.35.020(1) (emphasis added). No construction consistent with this broad language could prevent the statute from applying to citizens who merely think about committing crimes.

Even though Ms. Jenson's alleged conduct false within the statute's legitimate sweep, the statute must be invalidated and her identity theft convictions reversed. *Broadrick*, 413 U.S. at 612; *Pauling*, 149 Wn.2d at 387.

III. THE COURT MISCALCULATED MS. JENSON'S OFFENDER SCORE, BECAUSE ALL OF HER CONVICTIONS SHOULD HAVE SCORED AS THE SAME CRIMINAL CONDUCT.

A sentencing court must determine the defendant's offender score pursuant to RCW 9.94A.525. The sentencing judge must determine how multiple current offenses are to be scored. Offenses that comprise the "same criminal conduct" are "counted as one crime. RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). "Same criminal conduct" means "two or more crimes that require the same criminal intent, are committed at the same time and place, and involve the same victim." RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a).

The phrase "same criminal intent" does not refer to a crime's *mens rea. State v. Phuong*, 174 Wn. App. 494, 546-47, 299 P.3d 37 (2013). Instead, courts consider how intimately related the crimes are, the overall criminal objective, and whether one crime furthered the other. *Id.* Multiple offenses that are part of a common scheme or plan should be considered to have the same criminal intent for purposes of RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). That is, the overall criminal objective is to accomplish the scheme or plan.

Simultaneity is not required for a finding of same criminal conduct. *State v. Williams*, 135 Wn.2d 365, 368, 957 P.2d 216 (1998); *State v. Porter*, 133 Wn.2d 177, 183, 942 P.2d 974 (1997).

Here, Ms. Jenson's five felony convictions comprised the same criminal conduct. The state conceded and the trial court found that two pairs of offenses comprised the same criminal conduct.⁷ RP 878, 899; CP 158. The court should also have considered these pairs to comprise the same criminal conduct as each other and count V as well.

⁷ Initially, the prosecutor took the position that each felony scored separately. CP 135.

All five offenses involved the same victim (Mr. Falk). CP 44-46. All five involved the same criminal intent because they were intimately related and they were aimed at a single overall criminal objective (wrongfully obtaining money belonging to Mr. Falk).⁸ Each of the schemes alleged in counts I-V took place over the same generally overlapping charging period, with individual transactions commencing in 2011 and ending in 2014. CP 44-46. Finally, all five felonies transpired in the same "place" – Mr. Falk's accounts with J.P. Morgan Chase. Ex. 2-8; RP (4/1/15) 262-356; RP (4/2/15) 375-404.

Ms. Jenson's offenses meet all the requirements of RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). They comprise the same criminal conduct. The court abused its discretion by scoring Ms. Jenson's offenses separately in calculating her offender score. RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). Ms. Jenson's case must be remanded for resentencing. *Phuong*, 174 Wn. App. at 494, 546-47.

IV. THE COURT'S "REASONABLE DOUBT" INSTRUCTION INFRINGED MS. JENSON'S FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS BECAUSE IT IMPROPERLY FOCUSED THE JURY ON A SEARCH FOR "THE TRUTH."

A jury's role is not to search for the truth. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012); *State v. Berube*, 171 Wn. App. 103,

⁸ The prosecutor argued this theory to the jury directly. RP 788, 794, 803, 811.

286 P.3d 402 (2012). Here, over objection, the trial court instructed the jury that proof beyond a reasonable doubt means having "an abiding belief *in the truth of the charge.*" CP 74 (emphasis added). This occurred both at the start of trial and at the close of the evidence. RP 14-16, 127-130, 148-149, 663-664; CP 74.

Rather than determining the truth, a jury's task "is to determine whether the State has proved the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt." *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760. In this case, the court undermined its otherwise clear reasonable doubt instruction by directing jurors to consider "the truth of the charge." CP 74; RP 148-149.⁹

A jury instruction misstating the reasonable doubt standard "is subject to automatic reversal without any showing of prejudice." *Id.* at 757 (citing *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 281–82, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993)). Here, by equating proof beyond a reasonable doubt with a "belief in the truth of the charge," the court confused the critical role of the jury. CP 74; RP 148-149.

⁹ Ms. Jenson does not challenge the phrase "abiding belief." Both the U.S. and Washington Supreme Courts have already determined that phrase to be constitutional. *See Victor v. Nebraska*, 511 U.S. 1, 15, 114 S.Ct. 1239, 127 L.Ed.2d 583 (1994) (citing *Hopt v. Utah*, 120 U.S. 430, 439, 7 S.Ct. 614, 30 L.Ed. 708 (1887)); *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 658, 904 P.2d 245 (1995). Rather, Ms. Jenson objects to the instruction's focus on "the truth." CP 75.

The court's instruction impermissibly encouraged the jury to undertake a search for the truth, inviting the error identified in *Emery*. The problem here is greater than that presented in *Emery*. In that case, the error stemmed from a prosecutor's misconduct. Here, the prohibited language reached the jury in the form of an instruction from the court. CP 74; RP 148-149. Jurors were obligated to follow the instruction.

The presumption of innocence can be "diluted and even washed away" by confusing jury instructions. *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 315-16, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). Courts must vigilantly protect the presumption of innocence by ensuring that the appropriate standard is clearly articulated.¹⁰ *Id*.

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