## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

## ELIZABETH JENSON, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Judge G. Helen Whitener

No. 14-1-02297-4

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By THOMAS C. ROBERTS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 17442

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

# **

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

#### C. ARGUMENT.

1. ALL ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CRIMES CHARGED APPEAR IN THE INFORMATION BY FAIR CONSTRUCTION. FURTHER, DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO PROVE ACTUAL PREJUDICE.

All essential elements of a crime must be included in the charging document to afford notice to an accused of the nature of the accusation against him. *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 97, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). This rule is grounded in the constitutional requirement that defendants be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation against them. *State v. Taylor*, 140 Wn.2d 229, 236, 996 P.2d 571 (2000). When a charging

- 7 - Jenson.docx

document is challenged for the first time on appeal, as in the present case, it will be construed liberally and in favor of validity. *Id.* at 102.

When analyzing the sufficiency of a charging document under the liberal constructions, the court employs a two-prong test: "(1) do the necessary elements appear in any form, or by fair construction can be they be found in the Information and, if so, (2) can the defendant show he or she was actually prejudiced by the vague of inartful language." *State v. Rivas*, 168 Wn. App. 882, 887, 278 P.3d 686 (2012) (citing *State v. Zillyette*, 173 Wn.2d 784, 786, 270 P.3d 589 (2012)).

# a. <u>Liberal construction of the Information</u> shows all necessary elements.

Under the first prong, the court is to consider the charging document alone, "reading it as a whole, construing it 'according to common sense,' and including facts that are necessarily implied by the document's language." *Rivas*, 168 Wn. App. at 888 (citing *State v. Goodman*, 150 Wn.2d 774, 788, 83 P.3d 410 (2004)). The charging document must include some language that places the defendant on notice of any missing essential element to satisfy the first prong. *Rivas*, 168 Wn. App. at 888.

-8 - Jenson.docx

The corrected Information in the present case contains by liberal construction all the essential elements of the crime charged.<sup>5</sup> Count I alleged that defendant, during the period of July 5, 2011 to April 11, 2014:

did unlawfully, feloniously, knowingly obtain, possess, use or transfer a means of identification or financial information of . . . Jack Falk, with the intent to commit . . . any crime and thereby obtains an aggregate total . . . of value in excess of one thousand five hundred dollars.

CP 44. Count II alleged that defendant committed second degree theft,

a crime of the same or similar character, and/or a crime based on the same conduct or on a series of act connected together or constituting parts of a single scheme or plan

during the same July 5, 2011 to April 11, 2014 period, when she "did unlawfully and feloniously obtain control over property . . . belonging to another, of a value exceeding \$750[.]" CP 45.

Count III alleged that defendant committed first degree identity theft,

a crime of the same or similar character, and/or a crime based on the same conduct or on a series of acts connected together or constituting parts of a single scheme or plan

during the period between May 5, 2011 and May 20, 2013, when she

did unlawfully, feloniously, knowingly obtain, possess, use or transfer a means of identification or financial information of . . . Jack Falk, with the intent to commit . . . any crime and

- 9 - Jenson.docx

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Defendant assigns error only to Counts I-IV, therefore the State will focus only on those counts. Br. of App. p. i, 1, 5.

thereby obtains an aggregate total . . . of value in excess of one thousand five hundred dollars.

CP 45. Count IV alleged that defendant committed second degree theft, a crime of the same or similar character, and/or a crime based on the same conduct or on a series of act connected together or constituting parts of a single scheme or plan during the same May 5, 2011 to May 20, 2013 period, when she "did unlawfully and feloniously obtain control over property . . . belonging to

another, of a value exceeding \$750[.]" CP 46.

The State acknowledges that the Information could have been written more clearly, however, fair construction shows that it contains the essential elements of the crimes charged. The essential element defendant alleges was omitted was the "common scheme or plan" element required when the State seeks to aggregate offenses. *See* Br. of. App. p. 6; *Rivas*, 168 Wn. App. at 890.6 When reviewing the Information in the present case, however, as a whole with a liberal construction in favor of validity, the common scheme or plan element was alleged.

Counts I and II alleged defendant committed the crimes over a period of years; within the same July 5, 2011 to April 11, 2014 dates. CP

- 10 - Jenson.docx

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Rivas held that a common scheme or plan is an essential element of second degree malicious mischief when the State aggregates the value of damages items to reach the damage threshold. Rivas, 168 Wn. App. at 890. Although the present case does not involve charges of second degree malicious mischief, the operative language allowing for aggregation of damages in the malicious mischief and identity theft statutes both require the "common scheme or plan." See RCW 9.35.020(5), RCW 9A.48.100(2).

44–45. Count I included an allegation that defendant obtained "an aggregate total" in excess of \$1,500. CP 44 (emphasis added). To charge based on an aggregate total, a series of transactions must be part of a common scheme or plan. RCW 9.35.020(5). Therefore, including the word "aggregate" necessarily implies an allegation of multiple acts in a common scheme or plan. Further, Count II alleged that the second degree theft may have been "a series of acts connected together or constituting parts of a single scheme or plan." CP 45 (emphasis added). Thus, Count II included common scheme or plan language. Taken together and construed liberally, Counts I and II contained all essential elements of the crimes charged.

Similarly, Counts III and IV alleged defendant committed the crimes within another two year period; May 5, 2011 to May 20, 2013. CP 45–46. Count III included both an allegation that the crime may have been "a series of acts connected together or constituting parts of a *single scheme or plan*" and that the charge was based on "an *aggregate* total" exceeding \$1,500. CP 45 (emphasis added). Count IV also included the "a series of acts connected together or constituting parts of a *single scheme or plan*" language. CP 46. Therefore, taken together and construed liberally, Counts III and IV contained all essential elements of the crimes charged.

Further, Count I–IV all alleged the crimes took place over a two to three year time period. An Information is to be construed using common

- 11 - Jenson.docx

sense. *Goodman*, 150 Wn.2d at 786. Applying common sense to the two to three year time periods, along with the aforementioned "aggregate total" and "single scheme or plan" language, necessarily implies the criminal conduct occurred as the result of a multi-year common scheme or plan.

Defendant cites *Rivas* to support her critique of the charging document. Br. of App. p. 6–8. But the present case is distinguishable from *Rivas*, where the court found the Information deficient. *Rivas*, 168 Wn. App. at 890. In *Rivas*, the Information alleged that Rivas, "knowingly and maliciously cause[d] physical damage to the property of another in an amount exceeding seven hundred and fifty dollars (\$750)." *Id.* at 885 (alteration in original). The Information in *Rivas* did not allege either "an aggregate total" or a "single scheme or plan." Further, the Information in *Rivas* did not allege the crime took place over a lengthy period of time, such as a range of two to three years. Rather, the crimes took place on the same day. *See*, *id.* at 884. Therefore, the Information found deficient in *Rivas* is factually distinguishable from the Information in the present case, and *Rivas* does not require the Information in this case be found deficient.

- 12 - Jenson.docx

## b. <u>Defendant fails to show actual prejudice.</u>

If, under the first prong of *Zillyette*, 173 Wn.2d at 786, the necessary facts do appear in the charging document in some form, the second prong requires the court determine whether the defendant can show that she was *actually prejudiced* by the inartful language. *Rivas*, 168 Wn. App. at 888 (citing *State v. Williams*, 162 Wn.2d 177, 185, 170 P.3d 30 (2007)). In the present case, defendant has failed to prove she was actually prejudiced by the inartful language of the Information. Defendant presented a defense that focused on the series of transactions between her and Falk over the multi-year period.

According to defendant, Falk had been taking sums of money from her over the course of a period of time. 5RP 530. Defendant claimed she logged all these transactions:

I had a little spiral notebook, one of the medium-sized ones that I wrote everything down, how much I paid, how much was returned, how much I took back, how much – and then I made notes, like, when we would go and if anything, you know, different happened, so I would have it.

5RP 530.<sup>7</sup> In closing, defense counsel acknowledged that "there was money transferred back and forth." 7RP 821. The "common scheme or

- 13 - Jenson.docx

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Defendant claims she threw this notebook away after she left her job at the Mission in June 2013. 5RP 531.

plan" and the "aggregate total" used for the charges was not what was at issue in the case – nor was it what the defense focused on.

The defense at trial was that defendant was *entitled* to the money she took from Falk's accounts because he had owed her money. *See* 7RP 820. Defendant was fully able to defend herself against the charges; she called three witnesses and testified in her own defense to advance her theory of defense. *See* 4RP 449, 4RP 462, 5RP 516, 6RP 697. Defendant fails to prove that inartful language in the Information concerning the "common scheme or plan" element actually prejudiced her.<sup>8</sup>

2. THE IDENTITY THEFT STATUTE IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OVERBROAD BECAUSE IT DOES NOT MAKE UNLAWFUL ANY CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED BEHAVIOR.

Statutes are presumed constitutional. *State v. Pualing*, 149 Wn.2d 381, 386, 69 P.3d 331 (2003) (citing *State v. Crediford*, 130 Wn.2d 747, 752, 927 P.2d 1129 (1996)). A law may be overbroad, for example, if it sweeps within its prohibitions constitutionally protected speech. *State v. Glas*, 147 Wn.2d 410, 419, 54 P.3d 147 (2002) (citing *City of Seattle v. Webster*, 115 Wn.2d 635, 641, 802 P.2d 1333 (1990)); *see also*, *City of* 

- 14 - Jenson.docx

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Defendant does not articulate in the opening brief how she was prejudiced, instead relying on the presumption of prejudice when an information is found deficient. Br. of App. p. 6. Because the State argues that the elements can be fairly construed from the information, the presumption of prejudice does not apply.

Tacoma v. Luvene, 118 Wn.2d 826, 844, 827 P.2d 1374 (1992) (holding an ordinance prohibiting drug loitering was not unconstitutionally overbroad because, by requiring specific intent and overt acts, it did not reach constitutionally protected First Amendment conduct). To invalidate a law on its face under the overbreadth doctrine, the law must be "substantially overbroad." Id. A court's first task in analyzing overbreadth is determining whether the statute reaches a "substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct." Id.

A statute will be overturned only if "the court is unable to place a sufficiently limiting construction on a standardless sweep of legislation." *Glas*, 147 Wn.2d at 421 (quoting *City of Tacoma v. Luvene*, 118 Wn.2d 826, 840, 827 P.2d 1374 (1992)). "Criminal laws require particular scrutiny and may be facially invalid if they 'make unlawful a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct . . . even if they also have legitimate application." *City of Seattle v. Huff*, 111 Wn.2d 923, 925, 767 P.2d 572 (1989) (quoting *City of Houston v. Kill*, 482 U.S. 451, 459, 107 S. Ct. 2502, 96 L. Ed. 2d 398 (1987)).

The challenged statute reads, in relevant part:

No person may knowingly obtain, possess, use, or transfer a means of identification or financial information of another person, living or dead, with the intent to commit, or to aid or abet, any crime.

- 15 - Jenson.docx

RCW 9.35.020(1). The legislature codified the intent behind the challenged statute:

The legislature finds that means of identification and financial information are personal and sensitive information such that if unlawfully obtained, possessed, used, or transferred by others may result in significant harm to a person's privacy, financial security, and other interests. . . . The legislature intends to penalize for each unlawful act of improperly obtaining, possessing, using, or transferring means of identification or financial information of an individual person.

RCW 9.35.001 (emphasis added).

As a general rule, every crime must contain both an actus reus and a mens rea. *State v. Eaton*, 168 Wn. 2d 476, 480, 229 P.3d 704 (2010). The actus reus is the wrongful act that comprises the physical components of a crime. *Id.* at 481. The mens rea is the state of mind required to commit the crime. *Id.* For identity theft, the mens rea is "*knowingly*. . . with the *intent* to commit, or to aid or abet, any crime." RCW 9.35.020(1) (emphasis added). The actus reus is to "*obtain*, *possess*, *use*, or *transfer* a means of identification or financial information of another person." RCW 9.35.020(1) (emphasis added). A person would have to satisfy both the mens rea and actus reus requirement to be found guilty of identity theft.

The identity theft statute is not unconstitutionally overbroad because it does not reach a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct. Except arguably in cases of civil disobedience, criminal acts are

- 16 - Jenson.docx

not constitutionally protected behavior. Defendant argues the statute is overbroad because it "criminalizes thought." Br. of App. p. 10. The actus reus of the crime, however, is not "thought." It is to "obtain, possess, use, or transfer a means of identification or financial information of another person." RCW 9.35.020(1) (emphasis added). The plain meaning of to obtain, possess, use, or transfer is that they are all acts. Characterizing obtaining, possessing, using, or transferring as someone's "thought" is an overstatement of the statute.

That the statute does not criminalize "thought" is particularly apparent when the statute is read as a whole. The legislature's clear intent is to punish unscrupulous persons who seek to use the personal and financial records of other to advance fraudulent activity. The codified intent states the intent to penalize, "each *unlawful act* of improperly obtaining, possessing, using, or transferring means of identification or financial information of an individual person." RCW 9.35.001 (emphasis added). This shows the legislature did not intend to "criminalize thought," but rather to criminalize the *acts* of unscrupulous persons that fell within the statute.

Further, possessing the personal and financial records of others is not constitutionally protected behavior. There are, of course, many legitimate and lawful reasons a person would be in the possession of

- 17 - Jenson.docx

another's records, but legitimate and lawful activities are not necessarily constitutionally protected. For example, accountants, school administrators, human resources personnel, and tax preparers, in the course of their business, routinely possess such records. These are lawful—but not necessarily constitutionally protected—activities.

Possessing personal and financial information of others is not constitutionally protected behavior.

Courts must avoid absurd results when interpreting statutes and let common sense inform their analysis. *State v. Alvarado*, 164 Wn.2d 556, 562, 192 P.3d 345 (2008). In this case, interpreting the identity theft statute to criminalize the thought of a child considering sending an email, *see* Br. of App. p. 11, would lead to such absurd results. A law can only be unconstitutionally overbroad if it sweeps within its legitimate scope constitutionally protected activity. Criminal acts and possessing the personal and financial records of others are not constitutionally protected behaviors. Therefore, the identity theft statute is not unconstitutionally overbroad.

- 18 - Jenson.docx

3. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CALCULATED DEFENDANT'S OFFENDER SCORE.

The analysis of same criminal conduct for calculating a defendant's offender score is found in RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a), which provides:

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